IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

NO. 23-522

SCA EFiled: Nov 06 2023 10:26AM EST

Transaction ID 71332283

FRANCIS KAESS Petitioner

VS.

BB Land, LLC Respondent

Upon Certified Questions from the United States District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia, Case No. 1:22-CV-51

OPENING BRIEF OF PETITIONER FRANCIS KAESS

J. Anthony Edmond Jr
(WVSB ID No. 14162)
Michael B. Baum
(WVSB ID No. 12310)
EDMOND & BAUM, PLLC
1300 Market Street; Suite 102
Wheeling, WV 26003
Ph: 304-810-3201
Fx: 304-212-0473
aedmond@edmondbaumpllc.com
mbaum@edmondbaumpllc.com

Counsel for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Introduction

Property ownership and property rights are a vitally important part of the American tradition since before its inception as an independent nation; dating back to John Locke's treatises of government in which he refers to life, liberty, and property as being fundamental rights in the nature of law; which are widely believed to be the template for language in the Declaration of Independence and U.S. Constitution. Protection of an individual's property is mentioned twice in the U.S. Constitution, once in the Bill of Rights via the Fifth Amendment "No person shall [...] be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor shall private property be taken for public use, without just compensation." And then again in the Fourteenth Amendment, where is states "...nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law;"

The importance of real property ownership in particular is expressed colloquially in our culture on a frequent basis. The following quotes illustrate that point:

o "The wise young man or wage earner of today invests his money in real estate."

-Attributed to Andrew Carnegie

- o "Buy land, they're not making it anymore." Attributed to Mark Twain
- o "The best investment on earth is earth." Attributed to Louis Glickman

Individual property rights, in this matter, are highlighted with respect to oil and gas in particular. Energy generation has historically been essential to regional and national economic growth in the United States; and oil and gas plays an important role in that. However, most individuals do not have the means to extract natural resources, including oil and gas, from the ground on their own. Therefore, property owners must rely on companies who have the knowledge, experience, money, and general wherewithal to extract those resources and place them into the stream of commerce¹. Any time companies need to enter onto and/or into lands held by other individuals, it is vitally important for those companies to garner trust with Oil and Gas owners; and to foster that trust by doing what they said they will do and honor their commitments to said Oil and Gas owners. In this instance, Respondent Exploration and Production Company broke that trust, and the original filing is designed to hold Respondent accountable for breaking that trust.

This Court is no stranger to the issues presented in these certified questions. Just last year, this Court revisited the issue of whether post-production expenses are permissible under an oil and gas lease when it reaffirmed *Wellman v. Energy Resources, Inc.*, 557 S.E.2d 22 (W. Va. 2001) (hereinafter, "*Wellman*") and *Estate of Tawney v. Columbia Natural Resources*, 633 S.E.2d 22 (W. Va. 2006) (hereinafter, "*Tawney*") in the case of *SWN Prod. Co., LLC v. Kellam*, 875 S.E.2d 216 (W. Va. 2022) (hereinafter, "*Kellam*"). In *Kellam*, this Court upheld *Wellman* and *Tawney*, and found that

¹ For performing this work, exploration and development companies already receive the lion's share of the monies generated by natural resource extraction. Often this is in the range of 80% to 87.5%. As such, the benefits of such extraction are already "baked into the cake"; there is no reason for exploration and development companies insist on cutting corners, like taking undue deductions from interest holders, in order to extract even more of that pie. And yet, time and time again in this State, that is exactly what they do.

if oil and gas lessors wish to deduct post-production expenses from a lessor's royalty payments, they must clearly provide for as such in the lease's language. In doing so, this Court upheld the decades long expectations that royalties will be paid free of post-production expenses unless the lessee specifically contracts for post-production expenses to be taken as called for by *Tawney*.

Respondent BB Land, LLC, now seeks to avoid this Court's ruling in *Kellam* by characterizing certain oil and gas leases as "in-kind" leases and urges this Court to rely upon out-of-state case law to find that the implied duty to market and *Wellman* and *Tawney*'s holdings to do not extend to such leases. This Court should reject this invitation and answer both certified questions in the affirmative. The implied duty to market and *Wellman* and *Tawney*'s holdings have been guiding principles of how oil and gas leases have been drafted and understood in West Virginia for decades. There is nothing in those cases' holdings that have limited their legal rulings to any specific oil and gas lease form. Further, the lease in question in this case specifically implicates the implied covenant to market by denoting that lessor's oil shall be sold and lessor's gas should be marketed. The meaning of the Petitioner's lease could not be clearer. Accordingly, Petitioner requests this Court uphold its longstanding principles as enshrined in *Wellman* and *Tawney* and find that the implied covenant to market exists in "in-kind" leases, and therefore *Wellman* and *Tawney*'s protection of royalty owners applies regardless of lease form.

Statement of Facts

The Petitioner owns certain mineral interests for approximately 103.5 acres in Pleasants County, West Virginia (the "Subject Property") [Joint Appendix - p. 4]. Petitioner's interest is subject to an oil and gas lease dated January 6, 1979 (the "Base Lease"), to which the Respondent is the successor-in-interest. [Joint Appendix – p. 48] The Base Lease grants the Respondent the right to drill and explore for and extract oil and gas "to the depth of 5000 feet or to the Oriskany Sand," including the Marcellus Shale formation.

The Base Lease contains a provision for the payment of royalties which states:

- 1. To deliver to the credit of Lessors free of cost in the pipe lines to which he may connect his wells, the equal one-eighth (1/8) part of all oil produced and sold from the leased premises.
- 2. To deliver to the credit of Lessors free of cost in the pipe line to which he may connect his wells, the equal one-eighth (1/8) part of all gas produced and marketed from the leased premises, and the Lessors shall have the right to free gas from any such well or wells for hearing and lighting any building on or off the property, making their own connections therefor at their own risk and expense. [Joint Appendix p. 49]

On May 19, 2016, the parties modified the Base Lease by entering into a Pooling Modification Agreement which added "certain voluntary pooling and unitization terms and conditions" [Joint Appendix – p. 52]. Specially, the Pooling Modification Agreement added the following provision to the Base Lease:

POOLING AND UNITIZATION: Lessee, at its option is hereby given the right to pool or combine the acreage covered by this Lease or any portion thereof with other land, lease or leases in the immediate vicinity thereof, when in the Lessee's judgment it is necessary to advisable to do so in order to property develop and operate said premises in compliance with any lawful spacing rules which may be prescribed for the field in which this lease is situated by an duly authorized authority, or when to do so would, in the judgment of the Lessee, promote the conservation of the oil and gas in and under and that may be produced from said premises Lessee shall execute in writing an instrument identifying and describing the pooled acreage. The entire acreage so pooled in a tract or unit shall be treated, for all purposes except the payment of royalties on production from the pooled unit, as if it were included in this lease. If production is found on the pooled acreage, it shall be treated as if production is had from this lease, whether the well or wells be located on the premises covered by this lease or not. In lieu of royalties elsewhere herein specified, Lessor shall receive on production from a unit so pooled only such portion of the royalty stipulated herein as the amount of his/her acreage placed in the unit or his/her royalty interest therein on an acreage basis bears to the total acreage so pooled in the particular unit involved. [Joint Appendix – p. 52]

In or about March 2018 the Respondent began reporting production of oil and gas from the Subject Property which is included in the P2S unit. The Subject Property contributes 64.093 acres of the unit's 624.5024 total acres. The Respondent sold the Petitioner's share of oil and gas on the market.

It paid him a royalty calculated from the percentage of leasehold acreage he contributed to the P2S unit's acreage and deducted certain post-production costs, which in part has given rise to this case.

Procedural History

Based on the facts as stated above, the Petitioner initiated this lawsuit against BB Land, Jay-Bee Oil & Gas, Inc., and Jay-Bee Production Company (collectively, "Respondents"), asserting three causes of action: (1) Payment Misallocation; (2) Improper Deductions – Marcellus; and (3) Excessive Deductions – Utica [Joint Appendix – p. 6 & 9]. On March 7, 2023, the Court granted in part and denied in part a motion to dismiss filed by the Defendants [Joint Appendix – p. 151]. The District Court found that Count Three and part of Count One (related to a February 15 Lease) were subject to an arbitration agreement, and the District Court stayed those counts pending their arbitration. The District Court also dismissed all non-arbitration claims against Jay-Bee Oil & Gas, Inc. and Jay-Bee Production Company. [Joint Appendix – p. 159]

As a result, only BB Land remains as the Respondent herein, and only Count Two and a portion of Count One remained for disposition at the District Court level. At the conclusion of discovery, the Respondent filed a motion for summary judgment [Joint Appendix – p. 183]. On July 21, 2023, the Court granted in part and denied in part said motion [Joint Appendix – p. 252].

As to Count One, the Petitioner asserted that the Respondent improperly calculated his royalties based on the acreage Petitioner's interest contributed to the P2S Unit rather than actual "production from the boundaries of the P2S6 Well itself" [Joint Appendix – p. 9]. The District Court granted the Respondent summary judgment on this issue, finding that the Pooling Modification Agreement unambiguously permitted it to calculate the Petitioner's royalty based on the amount of acreage his interest contributed to the production unit [Joint Appendix – p. 264].

With Respect to Count Two, the Petitioner alleged that the Respondent breached the lease by improperly deducting post-production costs from Petitioner's share of production royalties. The

Respondent contended it is permitted to deduct such costs from the Petitioner's royalty because Petitioner did not take Petitioner's share of production "in-kind" as contemplated by the Base Lease and so the Respondent was required to take Respondent's share of production to market along with its own share of production to avoid waste. The District Court denied the Respondent's request for summary judgment on Count Two, finding that the holdings of *Wellman* and *Tawney* apply in this case regardless of whether the lease at issue is an in-kind or proceeds lease [Joint Appendix – p. 267].

Subsequently, at the final pretrial conference, Respondent moved the District Court for leave to file a motion to certify a question of law to this Court pursuant to W. Va. Code §51-1A-1, et seq. entitled the Uniform Certification of Questions of Law Act. After briefing on the matter submitted by both the Petitioner (against certification) [Joint Appendix – p. 285] and the Respondent (in support of certification) [Joint Appendix – p. 270], the District Court granted Respondent's motion and sent the Certified Questions now before this Honorable Court. [Joint Appendix – p. 307]

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Summary of Argument – Certified Question 1 is there an implied duty to market for leases containing an in-kind royalty provision?

This Court should answer this question in the affirmative. The holdings this Court in both *Tawney* and *Wellman* do not limit them to only "proceeds leases" nor does it exclude "in-kind leases", but rather they state clearly that a lessee covenants that he will market oil or gas. The plain language is clear and unambiguous on its face.

In fact, the language of the lease in question in this matter in-and-of-itself contains an implied (or otherwise) duty to market the oil and gas. Specifically, the royalty provisions for oil and gas respectively both contain provisions, which indicate to any reasonable person that there is a duty

on the part of the Lessee to market the oil and gas in question.²

Summary of Argument – Certified Question 2 - Do the requirements for the deductions of post-production expenses from *Wellman v. Energy Resources, Inc.*, 557 S.E.2d 254 (W. Va. 2001) and *Estate of Tawney v. Columbia Natural Resources*, 633 S.E.2d 22 (W. Va. 2006), apply to leases containing an in-kind royalty provision?

This Court should answer this question in the affirmative, as the decisions made by this Court, both *Tawney* and *Wellman*, unequivocally apply to all oil and gas leases in West Virginia without limitation. In *Wellman*, this Court clearly established the history of expectations regarding royalty shares of Lessors in this State, as well as the applicability of that expectation over time. Both cases were further solidified/confirmed most recently by this Court in *Kellam*.

Further to this point, in multiple cases in front of the Federal Court for the Northern District of West Virginia, multiple decisions have interpreted the holdings in *Tawney*, *Wellman*, and *Kellam* as applying to both so-called "proceeds leases" and "in-kind leases" in the oil and gas context. This interpretation was further solidified by the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals who also agreed with this sentiment in *Corder v. Antero Res. Corp.*, 57 F.4th 384 (4th Cir. 2023).

Therefore, this Court need not reinvent the wheel, but rather follow its own holdings in previous cases—and agree with the distinguished jurists of the Federal Court for the Northern District of West Virginia and the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals—by answering the second Certified Question in the affirmative.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to Rules 18(a)(3) and 18(a)(4) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure,

² Respondent herein does not concede the point that the "Base Lease" in question is an in-kind lease on its face. As a matter of practicality, Respondent has only ever paid royalties to Petitioner based on oil/gas produced and sold. However, for purposes of this certified question, Petitioner asserts *Tawney* and *Wellman* apply irrespective of whether the lease is deemed to be an "in-kind lease" or a "proceeds lease"

Petitioner asserts oral argument in this matter is unnecessary. More specifically, Petitioner believes that the dispositive issues have been authoritatively decided by this Court in *Tawney, Wellman*, and *Kellam* at a minimum. Further, the facts and legal arguments are (or will be) adequately presented in the briefs and the record provided to this Court from the Federal Court for the Northern District of West Virginia, and the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument as a result.

<u>PETITIONER'S ARGUMENT – CERTIFIED QUESTIONS 1 & 2</u>

<u>ARGUMENT – CERTIFIED QUESTION 1</u>

This Court should answer the first Certified Question in the affirmative: the implied covenants to market exists in in-kind leases. First, to the extent the lease at issue is viewed by this Court as an "in-kind" lease, the language of the lease clearly provides that the implied covenants to market is present. The royalty provisions of the lease in question are as follows:

"In consideration of the premises the said Lessee covenants and agrees as follows:

- 1. To deliver to the credit of Lessors free of cost in pipe lines to which he may connect his wells, the equal one-eighth (1/8) part of all oil produced *and sold* from the leased premises.
- 2. To deliver to the credit of the Lessors free of cost in the pipe line to which he may connect his wells, the equal one-eighth (1/8) part of all gas produced *and marketed* from the leased premises, and the Lessor shall have the right to free gas from any such well or wells for heating and lighting any building on or off the property, making their own connections therefor at their own risk and expense." [emphasis added] [Joint Appendix p. 49]

This court has continuously endeavored to enforce the written meaning of parties' contracts. "[W]e are to ascertain the meaning of the agreement as manifested by its language. Our task is not to rewrite the terms of contract between the parties; instead, we are to enforce it as written." *Fraternal*

Order of Police, Lodge No. 69 v. City of Fairmont, 468 S.E.2d 712, 716 (W. Va. 1996). As reinforced by this Court in Tawney, "[t]he general rule as to oil and gas leases is that such contracts will generally be liberally construed in favor of the lessor, and strictly as against the lessee." Syl. Pt. 7, Est. of Tawney v. Columbia Nat. Res., L.L.C., 219 W. Va. 266, 268, 633 S.E.2d 22, 24 (2006) (quoting Syllabus Point 1, Martin v. Consolidated Coal & Oil Corp., 101 W.Va. 721, 133 S.E. 626 (1926)).

When Petitioner's lease is examined, it is clear that the lease contemplates the oil produced is to be sold, and the gas produced is to be marketed—thereby directly implicated the lessee's implied duty to market the hydrocarbons produced. Indeed, clause one states the oil royalty is to be "one-eighth (1/8) part of all oil produced **and sold**." (emphasis added) [Joint Appendix – p. 49]. Further, clause two states the gas royalty is to be "one-eighth (1/8) part of all gas produced **and marketed**..." (emphasis added) [Joint Appendix – p. 49]. Examined liberally in favor of the lessor, the royalty clauses clearly imply monies will be collected—of which one-eighth (1/8) belongs to Lessor. As defined recognized by this Court, "the lessee not only has a right under an oil and gas lease to produce oil and gas, but he also has a duty, either express, or under an implied contract, to market the oil and gas produced." *SWN Prod. Co., LLC v. Kellam*, 247 W. Va. 78, 84, 875 S.E.2d 216, 222 (2022). The language present in this lease is a clear duty to market as defined so many times by this Court. Accordingly, under the lease at issue in this case, the duty to market applies, and Certified Question No. 1 should therefore be answered in the affirmative.

In further addressing Certified Question 1, Petitioner turns to the holdings of this Court on the topic, when it stated, "...West Virginia holds that a lessee impliedly covenants that he will market oil or gas produced. See *Robert Tucker Donley, The Law of Coal, Oil and Gas in West Virginia and Virginia* §§ 70 & 104 (1951)." *Wellman v. Energy Resources, Inc.*, 210 W.Va. 200, 557 S.E.2d 254 (W. Va. 2001). As recently explained by Chief Justice Hutchinson in his concurring

opinion in *Kellam*:

For over a century, the first guideline has been that lessee/oil-and-gas companies cannot lease oil and gas rights and then sit on those rights, to the detriment of the owner/lessor of the rights. Thus, the fundamental goal implied into every single oil and gas lease is that the lessee has a duty to extract the minerals and get them to market for sale. Included in that goal is an understanding that the lessee bears all of the risks and costs of drilling, producing, and getting the oil and gas to market.

SWN Prod. Co., LLC v. Kellam, 247 W. Va. 78, 91, 875 S.E.2d 216, 229 (2022) (emphasis added). Nowhere in the Court's language across these cases does it denote that the implied covenant to market only applies to "proceeds" leases, nor does it exclude "in-kind" leases; but rather, it states clearly that a lessee covenants that he will market oil and/or gas. The plain language is clear and unambiguous on its face.

The idea expressed above is also reiterated by this Court in answering certified questions from the Federal Court for the Northern District of West Virginia in SWN Prod. Co. v. Kellam, 875 S.E.2d 216 (W. Va. 2022), by stating "The rationale for holding that a lessee may not charge a lessor for "post-production" expenses appears to be most often predicated on the idea that the lessee not only has a right under an oil and gas lease to produce oil or gas, but he also has a duty, either express, or under an implied covenant, to market the oil or gas produced. The rationale proceeds to hold the duty to market embraces the responsibility to get the oil or gas in marketable condition and actually transport it to market." [emphasis added] [quoting Wellman at 210, 557 S.E.2d at 264].

This Court in *Kellam* went on to discuss the rationale of foreign jurisdictions with those it accepts, namely stating in *Kellam* footnote 3, "The highest courts of Colorado, Kansas, Oklahoma, and Arkansas have all recognized, just as we did in *Wellman*, that the implied duty to market necessarily encompasses a duty to render the product marketable...". This Court also goes on, in the

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