No. 23-522

SCA EFiled: Dec 06 2023 02:13PM EST In the Supreme Court of Appeals of West VirginiaTransaction ID 71560202

FRANCIS KAESS, Petitioner,

v.

BB LAND, LLC, Respondent.

Certified Questions from Civil Action No. 1:22-cv-51 United States District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia

Respondent's Brief

Charles R. Bailey W. Va. Bar No. 0202 cbailey@baileywyant.com Bailey & Wyant PLLC 500 Virginia St. East Ste. 600 Charleston, WV 25337 Tel. 304.345.4222

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

Summary of Argument

Under West Virginia law, an oil and gas lease that is based on proceeds is deemed to impose on the lessee—i.e., the oil and gas producer—an implied duty to market the oil and gas produced. See Wellman v. Energy Res., Inc., 210 W. Va. 200, 211, 557 S.E.2d 254, 265 (2001). That means, according to this Court, that "if an oil and gas lease provides for a royalty based on proceeds received by the lessee, unless the lease provides otherwise, the lessee must bear all costs incurred in exploring for, producing, marketing, and transporting the product to the point of sale." Id. at 202, Syl. Pt. 4, 557 S.E.2d at 256, Syl. Pt. 4 (emphasis added). In short, the royalty is calculated based on the gross proceeds of production. If the lease provides otherwise, however, the lessee need not bear all such costs but may deduct from the gross proceeds "those costs to the extent that they were actually incurred and they were reasonable." Id., Syl. Pt. 5, 557 S.E.2d at 256, Syl. Pt. 5.

In *Estate of Tawney v. Columbia Natural Resources, LLC*, this Court held that the lease's language must satisfy three requirements in order for the lessee to allocate post-production costs to the lessor and calculate royalties based on the resulting *net* proceeds:

 The lease must "expressly provide that the lessor shall bear some part of the costs incurred between the wellhead and the point of sale";

- (2) The lease must "identify with particularity the specific deductions the lessee intends to take from the lessor's royalty"; and
- (3) The lease must "indicate the method of calculating the amount to be deducted from the royalty for such post-production costs."

219 W. Va. 266, 268, Syl. Pt. 10, 633 S.E.2d 22, 24, Syl. Pt. 10 (2006).

The present case—unlike *Wellman* and *Tawney*—does <u>not</u> involve a lease where the royalty is based on *proceeds* received by the lessee. Rather, the lease at issue has an "in-kind" royalty provision. Under an in-kind royalty provision, the lessor receives a royalty share of the *actual physical production*—i.e., a portion of the oil and gas produced, as opposed to the proceeds therefrom. But if the lessor fails to take its royalty share in kind, and the producer (the lessee) incurs the costs of gathering, processing, transporting, and marketing the lessor's royalty share, who bears those costs?

This Court has not considered this question. The answer depends upon: (a) whether the implied duty to market applies to leases with in-kind royalty provisions, and (b) whether the requirements for the deduction of postproduction costs from *Wellman* and *Tawney* apply to leases containing in-kind royalty provisions.

Pursuant to persuasive authority from Oklahoma, on which this Court has previously relied, leases with in-kind royalty provisions impose no implied duty to market. And because no implied duty to market exists, the lessee under an in-kind lease can deduct post-production costs regardless of whether the lease language satisfies the *Tawney* requirements.

In short, absent other lease language, the lessor under an in-kind lease is responsible for gathering, processing, marketing, and transporting its royalty share of the production. If the lessor sits on its hands and elects *not* to take its royalty share in kind, it cannot then demand that the lessee alone bear those costs. The lease language contains no such obligation, and West Virginia law should not imply such an obligation.

Statement Regarding Oral Argument

Pursuant to Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, oral argument is appropriate in this case since this case involves an issue of first impression with regard to the application of the implied duty to market and the requirements of *Wellman* and *Tawney* as it relates to in-kind royalty provisions.

Argument

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

West Virginia Code section 51-1A-3 provides that this Court "may answer a question of law certified to it by any court of the United States . . . if the answer may be determinative of an issue in a pending cause in the certifying court and if there is no controlling appellate decision, constitutional provision or statute of this state." Both requirements are satisfied here.

First, as the certification order provides, the answers to the certified questions "determine whether [BB Land] was permitted to deduct post-production costs from [Kaess's] royalties." [J.A. 315]. Further, because there is no factual dispute that BB Land deducted certain post-production expenses from Kaess's royalty payments, the certified questions are "purely legal questions involving West Virginia oil and gas law." [J.A. 315].

Second, as the certification order further provides, this Court has not addressed whether the implied duty to market applies to in-kind leases or whether the *Wellman* and *Tawney* requirements extend to in-kind leases. [J.A. 315]. Thus, there is no controlling appellate decision, constitutional provision, or West Virginia statute addressing the deduction of post-production expenses under an in-kind lease. In the absence of this Court's guidance, the Northern District of West Virginia has answered these questions of West Virginia law incorrectly, holding that "*Wellman* and *Tawney* apply regardless of whether plaintiffs' leases are in kind or proceeds leases." *Hopper v. Jay-Bee Oil & Gas Inc.*, Nos. 5:20-CV-101 and 5:20-CV-110, 2022 WL 19403556, at *3 (N.D. W.Va. Nov. 22, 2022) (Bailey, J.); *Carolina Mineral Partners LLC v. Jay-Bee Prod. Co.*, No. 5:23-CV-214, 2023 WL 7391872, at *3–5 (N.D. W. Va. Oct. 19, 2023) (Bailey, J.); *see also* J.A. 265–67 (following *Hopper* as the only available authority on this point but certifying the questions to this Court).

This Court, and this Court alone, is the final arbiter of these important questions of West Virginia law.

II. THE ORIGINS OF THE IMPLIED DUTY TO MARKET IN WEST VIRGINIA.

As this Court has recognized, critics of West Virginia oil and gas law point to an apparent "unwillingness to accept the realities of deregulation in the natural gas market [rather] than from implied covenant law." *Leggett v. EQT Prod. Co.*, 239 W. Va. 264, 277, 800 S.E.2d 850, 863 (2017) (citation omitted). Thus, the starting point for this analysis must begin with a brief history of deregulation, and this Court's seminal opinion in *Wellman*, in which the implied covenant to market was first recognized under West Virginia law.

A. Congress's deregulation of the natural gas industry created an entirely new body of oil and gas law.

In 1938, the Natural Gas Act, 15 U.S.C. § 717, et seq., authorized the Federal Power Commission to regulate pipeline rates for transportation and resale of natural gas. *See Clough v. Williams Prod. RMT Co.*, 179 P.3d 32, 35–36 (Colo. Ct. App. 2007).¹ However, because the Act did not require interstate pipelines to offer transportation services to third-party gas shippers, the pipelines were able to use their influence over gas transportation to create and maintain a monopoly in the market for the purchase of gas at the wellhead. *Id.* at 35.

Congress took the initial step to increase competition in the natural gas market by enacting the Natural Gas Policy Act of 1978, 15 U.S.C. § 3301, et seq., intending to phase out the regulation of wellhead prices charged by producers of natural gas, and to promote gas transportation by interstate and intrastate pipelines for third parties. *Id.* However, when providing common carriage affected their own sales, pipelines were reluctant to do so. So, in 1985, the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) promulgated Order No. 436, which contained an "open access" rule incentivizing pipelines to offer gas transportation services. *Id.*

¹ This Court cited to the *Clough* opinion in *Leggett*, recognizing that the opinion succinctly states the history of deregulation. *See Leggett*, 239 W. Va. at 271 n.10, 800 S.E.2d at 857 n.10.

In 1992, FERC promulgated Order No. 636, requiring all interstate pipelines to "unbundle" transportation services from their own natural gas sales and to provide common carriage services to buyers who shipped gas from other sources. *Id.* "The deregulation of the natural gas industry is considered the major catalyst for the current wave of royalty litigation because, before deregulation, buyers purchased gas at or near the wellhead, thereby absorbing most post-wellhead costs." *Id.* at 36.

After deregulation, producers began marketing their own gas—and many producers now elect to process and transport gas downstream to obtain a better price. *See Garman v. Conoco, Inc.,* 886 P.2d 652, 653–54 (Colo. 1994) (describing examples of post-production processing and transportation activities producers may undertake to sell at a higher price away from the wellhead). As a result, the question arose as to <u>who</u> was responsible for the costs of gathering, processing, transporting, and marketing the gas downstream to the ultimate point of sale.

B. West Virginia's adoption of the implied duty to market for proceeds leases.

When gas was routinely sold at the wellhead, the implied duty to market was neither considered nor litigated. Following deregulation, questions arose as to whether producers were obligated to market the oil and gas produced; if so, who was responsible for the costs associated with these marketing efforts especially in light of the higher sales prices that could be obtained downstream.

10

In the landmark case of Wellman v. Energy Resources, Inc., 210 W. Va. 200, 557 S.E.2d 254 (2001), this Court first examined those questions in the context of a lease containing a royalty provision based on the proceeds received from the sale of the oil or gas (i.e., a proceeds lease). The Court surveyed the highest courts from the states of Texas, Louisiana, Colorado, Kentucky, Kansas, Oklahoma, Arkansas, and North Dakota. Id. at 210–213, 557 S.E.2d at 264–67. The Court acknowledged that while "Texas and Louisiana[] have recognized that a lessee may properly charge a lessor with a pro rata share of such 'postproduction' (as opposed to production or development) costs . . . a number of other states have rejected this position where a lease . . . calls for the payment of royalties on the basis of what the lessee receives from the sale of oil and gas." Id. at 210, 557 S.E.2d at 264. The Court immediately recognized that it was the language of the royalty provision that would drive the analysis, noting that "[w]here leases call for the payment of royalties based on the value of oil or gas produced, and sold directly . . . there are possibly different issues." Id. at n.3, 557 S.E.2d at n.3.

As this Court continued its survey of the states that prohibit charging a lessor for post-production expenses, it noted that the rationale for such a holding was "the idea that the lessee not only has a right under an oil and gas lease to produce oil or gas, but he also has a duty, either express, or under an implied covenant, to market the oil or gas produced" (i.e., the implied duty to market). *Id.* at 210, 557 S.E.2d at 264. "The rationale proceeds to hold the duty to market embraces the responsibility to get the oil or gas in marketable condition and actually transport it to market." *Id.*, 557 S.E.2d at 264. The Court thus concluded "that the rationale employed by Colorado, Kansas, and Oklahoma in resolving the question of whether the lessor or the lessee should bear 'post-production' costs is persuasive." *Id.* at 211, 557 S.E.2d at 265.

Accordingly, in *Wellman*, this Court held that "if an oil and gas lease provides for a royalty based on proceeds received by the lessee, unless the lease provides otherwise, the lessee must bear all costs incurred in exploring for, producing, marketing, and transporting the product to the point of sale." *Id.* at 202, Syl. Pt. 4, 557 S.E.2d at 256, Syl. Pt. 4. The Court further clarified that if the lease provides otherwise, only reasonable and actually incurred expenses may be deducted. *Id.* at Syl. Pt. 5, 557 S.E.2d at 256, Syl. Pt. 5.²

² This Court has recognized that certain authors have been critical of *Wellman* for the Court's "dogged devotion to Professor Donley's, pre-deregulation 1951 treatise *The Law of Coal, Oil and Gas in West Virginia and Virginia.*" *See* Leggett, 239 W. Va. at 277, 800 S.E.2d at 863. However, a closer review of Donley's treatise reveals that prior to *Wellman*, no West Virginia court had expressly recognized the implied duty to market. Although this Court relied on Sections 70 and 104 of Professor Donley's treatise for the proposition that West Virginia, like other states, "holds that a lessee impliedly covenants that he will market oil or gas produced" (*Wellman*, 210 W. Va. at 211, 557 S.E.2d at 265), Section 70 does not mention an implied duty to market in West Virginia, and Section 104's reference to an implied duty to market is unsupported by *any* West Virginia law or case, instead citing to a treatise by W.L. Summers, *The Law of Oil and Gas* § 400 (2d ed.). *See generally* Donley, *The Law of Coal, Oil and*

C. Since *Wellman*, this Court provided further clarity on the deduction of post-production expenses.

Following this Court's decision in *Wellman*, the Court has considered other certified questions related to the deduction of post-production expenses. In *Estate of Tawney v. Columbia Natural Resources LLC*, the Court provided further clarity on what must be included in a proceeds lease to allocate certain post-production expenses to the lessor, holding that a lease must (1) "expressly provide that the lessor shall bear some part of the costs incurred between the wellhead and the point of sale"; (2) "identify with particularity the specific deductions the lessee intends to take from the lessor's royalty"; and (3) "indicate the method of calculating the amount to be deducted from the royalty for such post-production costs." 219 W. Va. 266, 267, Syl. Pt. 10, 633 S.E.2d 22, 23, Syl. Pt. 10 (2006).

More recently, in *SWN Production Company, LLC v. Kellam*, this Court held that "[t]hese holdings firmly cemented West Virginia as a 'marketable product

Gas in West Virginia and Virginia §§ 70, 104. Section 400 of Summers' book discusses the implied covenant to market oil or gas produced generally and cites three West Virginia cases—none of which addresses an implied duty to market or the marketable product rule. *See Lowther Oil Co. v. Miller-Sibley Oil Co.*, 53 W. Va. 501, 44 S.E. 433 (1903) (discussing implied duty to develop and abandonment of lease, only); *Doddridge Cnty. Oil & Gas Co. v. Smith*, 154 F. 970, 979 (C.C.N.D. W. Va. 1907) (stating that lessors remedy for failure to further develop a leased premises or to protect the lines from drainage is an action at law for damages, and not forfeiture of the lease); *Kellar v. Craig*, 126 F. 630, 633 (4th Cir. 1903) (discussing implied covenants to "protect the lines of and well develop the land leased," only).

rule' state, meaning that the lessee bears all post-production costs incurred until the product is first rendered marketable, unless otherwise indicated in the subject lease." 247 W. Va. 78, 83, 875 S.E.2d 216, 221 (2022). Notably, courts and scholars alike have interpreted the holdings of Wellman and Tawney to extend the implied duty to market beyond the marketable product rule (i.e., when the product is first rendered marketable), recognizing that both *Wellman* and *Tawney* seem to impose the implied duty to market in West Virginia until the point of sale, even if that occurs further downstream from the first available market. See, e.g., Owen L. Anderson, Marketable Product: What Did Kuntz Say? What Did Merrill Say?, 1 OIL & GAS, NAT. RES. & ENERGY J. 43, 46 (Jan. 2015) ("At the other extreme is West Virginia, where the court essentially held that royalty is payable at the ultimate point of an actual arm's-length sale, no matter how far downstream of the well that such a sale might occur-apparently even if the actual sale occurs at a location beyond an established market closer to the well."); see also Wellman, 210 W. Va. at 211, 557 S.E.2d at 265; Tawney, 219 W. Va. at 274, 633 S.E.2d at 30.

However, the trilogy of *Wellman*, *Tawney*, and *Kellam* all have one thing in common that is not present in the current dispute: the royalty provisions at issue provided for a royalty based on the *value* of the production. There was no question that the lessor would receive its royalty share as a monetary payment (i.e., dollars), rather than in kind as is present here.

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